

Why there is no Transgenic Papaya in Mexico

Laura Silva-Rosales^{1*} • Diego González -de-León¹ • Salvador Guzmán-González³ • Michelle Chauvet²

¹ Department of Genetic Engineering, Cinvestav del IPN-Unidad Irapuato, Km. 9.6 Lib. Norte Carr. Irapuato-León, Irapuato 36821, Gto., Mexico
² Departamento de Sociología, Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana (Unidad Azcapotzalco), Av. San Pablo No.180, Col. Reynosa Tamaulipas, Mexico D.F. 02200, Mexico
³ Facultad de Ciencias Biológicas y Agropecuarias, Universidad de Colima, Autopista Colima-Manzanillo Km 40, Tecomán 28100, Col., Mexico

Corresponding author: * lsilva@ira.cinvestav.mx

ABSTRACT

Mexico is the world's second largest papaya producer and its top exporter. *Papaya ringspot virus* (PRSV) may cause commercial crop losses of up to 100% in some regions, especially affecting small, low-income, and medium sized papaya producers. The introduction of genetically engineered (GE) PRSV-resistant papaya could therefore help alleviate this problem. Scientific expertise for in-country development of GE PRSV-resistant papaya is already in place and the regulatory, intellectual property rights and public perception settings are encouraging. The introduction of GE papaya would be greatly facilitated by the fact that a single variety, 'Maradol', would need to be modified for adoption since it completely dominates local and export markets. However, part of Mexico is within the proposed center of origin of *Carica papaya*. Risk assessment of GE PRSV-resistant papaya should consider transgene flow to cultivated, wild or weedy relatives. The role of farmers' practices and social values as well as the structure of the papaya seed system in shaping the nature of gene flow needs to be investigated. What then has hampered, over the last 20 years, any serious efforts to develop, introduce and evaluate this technology? An *ex ante* assessment of the socioeconomic impact of GE papaya is being conducted to foresee possible impacts of transgenic papaya, taking into consideration the prevailing agricultural production systems. Current data indicate that resource poor farmers would benefit most from this technology but that large producers are averse to its introduction. Moreover, two foundations whose main objective is to facilitate the development and transfer of innovative technologies to farmers, have dropped their support of two public projects for the development of GE papaya.

Keywords: biosafety, genetic diversity, public perception, ringspot virus, socioeconomic issues

Abbreviations: amiRNA, artificial microRNA; *bar*, Bialaphos resistance gene; **Bt**, *Bacillus thuringiensis*; **CIBIOGEM**, Inter-Secretarial Commission on Biosafety of Genetically Modified Organisms; **Cinvestav**, Centro de Investigación y Estudios Avanzados; **CP**, Coat protein; **DGSV**, General Directorate of Plant Health of the Ministry of Agriculture; **EACR**, European Association for Cancer Research; **EPA**, Environmental Protection Agency; **EU**, European Union; **FAO**, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; **GE**, genetically engineered; **HA 5-1**, attenuated Hawaiian viral strain 5-1; **hpt**, hygromicin phosphotransferase gene; **siRNA**, small interfering RNA; **INIFAP**, National Research Institute of Forestry, Agriculture and Livestock; **IPR**, Intelectual Property Rights; *npt***II**, Neomycin phosphotransferase gene giving resistance to kanamycin; **PapMV**, *Papaya mosaic virus*; **PRSV**, *Papaya ringspot virus*; **PTGS**, post-transcriptional gene silencing; **SAGARPA**, Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock, Rural Development, Fisheries and Food; *uidA*, β-glucuronidase gene; **WHO**, World Health Organization

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
THE PAPAYA IN MEXICO	46
A glimpse of production figures	46
Production systems – socioeconomic considerations	46
Seed supply	47
Major diseases and genetically engineered (GE) papaya – PRSV as a case in point	47
PAPAYA RINGSPOT VIRUS (PRSV) – PREVALENCE AND DIVERSITY IN MEXICO	47
DEVELOPMENT OF TRANSGENIC PAPAYA IN MEXICO	
MEXICAN BIOSAFETY	48
Risk assessment and management issues	48
Intellectual property rights (IPR)	49
PUBLIC PERCEPTION OF GE PAPAYA IN MEXICO	49
CONCLUDING REMARKS	49
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	50
REFERENCES	50

INTRODUCTION

The first application for the deregulation of a genetically engineered (GE) crop in Mexico was submitted in 1988 (Sarukán 1999). This prompted the formation, in 1991, of the National Agricultural Biosafety Committee, under the umbrella of the Plant Health Office of the Ministry of Agriculture (DGSV-SAGARPA). Seventeen years later, after many applications and contained field experiments of transgenic cotton, soybeans, maize and other minor crops, large scale experimental field trials of GE cotton, a politically motivated *de facto* moratorium on all transgenic maize trials in 1998, and endless controversies, congress voted the Biosafety Law for Genetically Modified Organisms (DOF 2005). However, it was not until early 2008 that the regulations for the application of this law were eventually approved and released (DOF 2008).

As in many other nations, there are polarized views on GM organisms and the potential of biotechnology for solving food problems.

It is against this backdrop that we will consider the question of why there is no transgenic papaya in Mexico. We shall endeavor to show that the scientific expertise for in-country development of GE papaya is already in place, and that the regulatory, intellectual property rights and public perception settings are encouraging. However, potentially major hurdles can be anticipated in relation to the resolution of risk assessment issues and the current perception that barriers to transferring the technology to papaya producers may be in the producers themselves, at least for a few years to come.

THE PAPAYA IN MEXICO

A glimpse of production figures

Worldwide papaya production and trade have changed dramatically over the last 30 years. While world production has increased from about 2.5 to 7.1 M tonnes (t) (data for the period 1980-2006), there has been a jump of more than 12fold in worldwide exports and of 22-fold in imports (FAO 2009b), at roughly 0.25 Mt in each case. Mexican production has increased from about 200,000 to 800,000 t in the same period; as the second world producer, its output is less than half that of Brazil. Mexico's exports have gone from almost none in 1980 to 95,000 t in 2006 to become the world's top papaya exporter, a record that almost doubled that of its closest competitor (Malaysia) and represented around 35% of the global papaya trade market in 2006. The bulk of Mexican exports are to the USA, a country where imports have increased from roughly 15,000 to 132,000 t in three decades. Albeit these trends have declined sharply in the last decade, it is clear that papaya consumption has rapidly gained acceptance, especially in industrialized countries where there has been a more general increase in the consumption of fruits and vegetables (FAO 2009a, 2009c).

In Mexico, 20 of the 32 states are papaya producers (SIAP 2009b). In the past few years, Veracruz, Chiapas, Oaxaca, Colima, Michoacán, Yucatán, Tabasco and Guerrero have been the eight states with the largest planted area, contributing to 88% of national production. Yield within these states varies from 24 to 80 t/ha with an average 45 t/ha. The national average yield was 41 t/ha, and the total planted area was 19,500 ha (SIAP 2009a). By comparison, the average yield in Thailand was 12 t/ha, in Brazil 51 t/ha and in El Salvador 133 t/ha (FAO 2009b).

Before the 1970's, 'Amarilla' and 'Amameyada' were the main papaya varieties cultivated in the country. However, Mexico owes much of its success as a producer and more particularly as exporter to the adoption in the 1970s, and spectacular expansion in the 1980s, of the Cuban 'Maradol' variety. Production under irrigation covered about half of the total planted area in the country in 2006; the average yield under these conditions was 55 t/ha. Under rainfed conditions, the average yield was 28 t/ha (SIAP 2009a). The average price of the harvest is highly variable under rainfed conditions and is always lower than under irrigation, a reflection of concomitant differences in fruit quality under the two systems. Pre-harvest diseases, generally more common and severe under rainfed conditions, are the main cause of yield reduction and fruit damage.

Production systems – socioeconomic considerations

In order to foresee the possible impact of transgenic papaya in Mexico, an *ex ante* socioeconomic study is being conducted, focusing on the states of Veracruz, Chiapas and Colima. The first two are the most prominent producers while Colima is home to the first producer-driven research project on the development of transgenic papaya (Castañeda *et al.* 2007; Castañeda 2009). The overall objective of the *ex ante* study was to *forecast* the socioeconomic impacts of a new technology, namely PRSV-resistant GE papaya, prior to its introduction. Specific objectives centered on identifying salient potential economic impacts on producers and seed companies in terms of production costs, market competitiveness, seed distribution, etc., with a view to pinpoint factors that would help improve the impoverished situation of small, low income, producers.

The study comprised three stages. Initially, the authors held interviews with carefully selected "key informants" representing producers, agricultural researchers, government officials and members of pertinent local institutions, in five of the seven most important papaya producing regions in Mexico. Thus, the state of Veracruz was chosen for conducting a survey that would target low income farmers. In the second phase, a focus group (Elliot et al. 2005) involving a small group of stakeholders, was set up to help design the survey questionnaire on the basis of farm survey and cost-benefit analyses. In the third phase, fifty eight small papaya producers from the small county of Cotaxtla provided answers to 105 questions designed to probe agricultural practices, socio-economic variables and values and perceptions concerning new technologies and GE papaya in particular.

Here we briefly summarize salient findings on the basis of a simple definition of production systems in terms of three broad groups of farmers/producers: very low income farm households that depend on small-scale subsistence production, medium-sized farms, and large-scale producers. These characterize Mexican agriculture and serve as a starting criterion to assess social impacts of new technologies (Brush and Chauvet 2004; Nivia and Perfecto 2009).

Low income, small-scale producers have orchards that range from 0.5 ha to 5-10 ha, mostly on rainfed land, with yields ranging from 35 to 50 t/ha. Similar areas are dedicated by farmers to producing other crops such as maize (Soleri et al. 2005), or various organic products (Tovar et al. 2005). This papaya production system is found in Veracruz, Chiapas, Michoacán, Jalisco, Oaxaca and Yucatán. Its produce is generally limited to the domestic, often local, market. Marketing involves intermediaries who buy the product directly from the farmers and place them at a disadvantage by unilaterally establishing the sale price. Moreover, if there is a large supply of papaya on the market, the price paid by the broker does not cover production costs and producers prefer to lose their harvest. Having limited access to information, technology and financing opportunities, these producers are likely to suffer most from any contingencies affecting the health of their crop. They may receive some technical assistance from distributors of agricultural inputs but will be very much on their own if their crop fails (Castañeda 2009).

Medium scale farms, usually 20 to 30 ha in size, generate enough income to attract private loans at very high interest and therefore remain financially vulnerable. Marketing and crop risks are similar to those of small scale producers. However, in good years, they will seek professional assistance and will implement more intensive crop management practices such as drop irrigation.

Large-scale producers normally plant an area of 100 to 150 ha under irrigation.

Reported yields range from 140 to 200 t/ha. They contribute to both domestic and international markets, with most exports going to the United States of America. Their investments are large and risky, and include expenditures in local and foreign specialized technical assistance; the main yearly risk is the loss of the crop during the hurricane season in coastal regions. In some regions, labor shortages due to migration cause steep wage increases in order to retain migrant workers, a practice that only large producers can afford (Massieu 2009).

Seed supply

Seed supply is another pertinent aspect of the production systems described. There are three seed supply channels: the seed that mostly low income producers select from their own orchards and backyards; the seed obtained from the National Research Institute of Forestry, Agriculture and Livestock (INIFAP); and the seed purchased from mostly one commercial source (Castañeda *et al.* 2007).

The "Sistema Producto" - a national program designed to strengthen agriculture supply chain linkages and improve access to market opportunities for small-scale producers has not yet been properly integrated into the papaya seed production process. This program could eventually play a role in a timely and successful adoption of new varieties and technologies by small producers.

Major diseases and genetically engineered (GE) papaya – PRSV as a case in point

In Mexico, the papaya crop is affected by diseases caused by bacteria (e.g., *Erwinia* and *Pseudomonas* spp.), fungi (e.g., *Cercospora* and *Fusarium* spp.), phytoplasmas, nematodes and viruses. Papaya ringspot, caused by the potyvirus *Papaya ringspot virus* (PRSV), is arguably the most devastating disease in Mexico and worldwide (Poghosyan *et al.* 2007). Although the pressure of PRSV remains high throughout the year, in regions of high rainfall such as Chiapas, fungi represent a greater threat to plant health.

The development of GE PRSV-resistant papaya essentially saved the Hawaiian papaya industry (Gonsalves 1998; Stokstad 2008). It is unquestionable that resistance to PRSV, introduced by either conventional methods or genetic engineering, would benefit Mexican producers in at least two ways. First, it would reduce production costs and increase yields. Second, it would help reduce one of the main problems affecting harvested fruit quality, namely the unsightly tainting of fruits with PRSV ringspots (generally, this does not affect pulp quality) which in turn make the fruit more vulnerable to opportunistic fungal attack and thus a reduction of shelf life.

Experimental attempts to control the deleterious effect of PRSV using cross protection were carried out using the PRSV attenuated strain from Hawaii (HA 5-1) without success. Indeed, efforts to obtain Mexican attenuated strains could not be completed since the Mexican PRSV isolate from Veracruz did not produce local lesions in the experimental host *Chenopodium quinoa* (Téliz *et al.* 1991) and the strategy came to a halt. A search for a natural mild PRSV strain, to confer cross protection is underway (unpublished results).

In 1997, a major producer from the state of Chiapas submitted an application to the Mexican Biosafety authorities for field testing of a GE 'Sunrise' variety developed and transferred by D. Gonsalves (SENASICA 2003); this variety harbored an untranslatable CP sequence of HA5-1, the Hawaiian PRSV isolate (Gonsalves *et al.* 1998). A small plot of less than a tenth of a hectare was set up but was later swept away by hurricane Pauline and the project was abandoned. Four more applications for small greenhouse and field trials of GE papayas for long shelf life and PRSV resistance were submitted in 1998-9 by a multinational company (SENASICA 2003); these applications were approved by the DGSV (SAGARPA) but, for unknown reasons, all the experiments were cancelled by the applicants at the end of 1999. No more applications for transgenic papaya have been submitted since then.

PAPAYA RINGSPOT VIRUS (PRSV) – PREVALENCE AND DIVERSITY IN MEXICO

Prior to the spectacular expansion of the area planted to 'Maradol' papaya, PRSV was a minor threat with little or no effects on labor costs. PRSV was reported for the first time in México in 1974 (Ochoa de F. and Galindo 1977)

with commercial losses of up to 100% especially affecting small, low-income, and medium sized papaya producers (unpublished data). Its presence was detected in all three commercial papaya producing States at that time: Veracruz on the East coast, Colima on the West coast and Guerrero in the Southwest. This preceded the introduction of 'Maradol' as the most widely grown variety in Mexico (SAGARPA 2005). At present, all twenty states where papaya is grown commercially are affected by PRSV. The virus causes damage that ranges from mild, mostly in areas with major producers, to very severe in areas belonging to medium or small scale producers (Noa-Carrazana *et al.* 2006). The reasons behind these important differences between production systems, reasons that impinge directly on the potential adoption of transgenic PRSV resistant papaya, were discussed in the previous section.

Another issue that will affect the development and acceptability of resistant transgenic papaya in Mexico is the high variability of the virus across the country. Indeed, it has been shown that the CP mediated protection of transgenic lines (as well as classical cross protection), does not always provide broad protection against geographically diverse PRSV isolates (Tennant et al. 1994; Gonsalves 1998; Chiang et al. 2001; Tennant et al. 2001; Bau et al. 2003). Two reports have been published about the distribution and variability of PRSV isolates in Mexico (Silva-Rosales et al. 2000; Noa-Carrazana et al. 2006). Infected plants were collected in all papaya production areas in Mexico from 1995 to 2002. PRSV was present everywhere and was isolated from different papaya cultivars grown in the country (i.e., 'Amarilla', 'Cera', 'Amameyada' and 'Maradol'). The virus was also present in some feral cucurbitaceous species and in wild papaya (possibly Jacaratia) species in the vicinity of sampled plantations. This is suggestive of the presence of PRSV before the large scale production of the fruit started in this country. The study of the diversity of PRSV was carried out by analyzing the nucleotide sequence of the CP gene; in contrast to PRSV isolates from other world locations (Bateson et al. 1994), there was a correlation between geographical origin and isolate variation in Mexico (Noa-Carrazana et al. 2006). At least six putative viral variants have been detected on the basis of CP gene variation, classified according to their geographic origins: 1. Chiapas, 2. Oaxaca, 3. Michoacán, 4. Jalisco-Nayarit, 5. Veracruz-Tabasco and 6. Veracuz-Yucatán. Each corresponds to a distinct physiographic region separated by topographic barriers from other regions and characterized by a combination of climatic conditions and vegetation types (Noa-Carrazana et al. 2006).

Thus, transgenic papaya with broad resistance to diverse PRSV isolates prevalent in Mexico can be developed by stacking the current battery of viral genes isolated by scientists from Cinvestav-Unidad Irapuato where the research was carried out.

DEVELOPMENT OF TRANSGENIC PAPAYA IN MEXICO

Molecular biology tools to engineer different plants of economic importance had their impact in Mexico, as in many other countries, in the mid eighties. At that time, there were only a couple of research institutes in Mexico that spread the knowledge and technical skills to other institutions across the country. By 1995, papaya embryogenic callus had been genetically transformed using Agrobacterium tumefaciens and microprojectile bombardment; three novel traits were introduced into papaya plants: the first, mostly a proof of concept, was herbicide resistance (Cabrera-Ponce et al. 1995); the second was the overexpression in roots of citrate synthase from the bacterium Pseudomonas aeruginosa, as a means to develop a model system for the study of aluminum tolerance (de la Fuente et al. 1997); and the third was resistance to PRSV using the CP gene from a severe viral Mexican isolate from Veracruz (unpublished data). These studies were conducted at Cinvestav-Unidad Irapuato, in Mexico. The PRSV resistant plants were obtained in 1997 as part of a project funded by the 'Fundación Produce Tabasco', one of 32 state foundations whose main objective is to facilitate the development and transfer of innovative technologies from public and private research institutions to more than 3500 registered producers (COFUPRO 2009). However, by 1999, as a result of a reorganization of the foundation, interest in transgenic papaya died out and the project was dropped. More recently, a sister foundation from the state of Colima - 'Fundación Produce Colima', acting on behalf of local papaya producers, funded a two year pilot project for the development of transgenic 'Maradol' papaya, run by INIFAP, whose main outcome was the establishment of standard protocols for routine transformation (Guzmán-González et al. 2006); but the project was not allowed to continue into its second phase when the local producers changed their priorities in the face of funding reductions. At present, an ongoing collaboration between the University of Colima and Cinvestav-Unidad Irapuato is developing a strategy to stack multiple CP genes belonging to different strains isolated during the PRSV diversity study at the latter institution (Noa-Carrazana et al. 2006). Markerfree technologies (Darbani et al. 2007) and other innovations in transformation methodologies, such as targeted homologous recombination (Hanin and Paszkowski 2003), the use of untranslatable RNA-mediated virus resistance (Bucher et al. 2006; Prins et al. 2008) and strategies using amiRNA (Niu et al. 2006; Qu et al. 2007) or chimeric hairpin RNA to produce siRNA (Yan et al. 2010), are being investigated in order to simplify risk assessment and increase the likelihood of deregulation and adoption. Untranslatable virus-derived transgenes are particularly interesting since little or no transgene mRNA accumulates as a result of posttranscriptional gene silencing (PTGS), especially in plants expressing the highest resistance levels (Lindbo et al. 1993). Therefore, apart from the triggering of PTGS as a defense mechanism, there are no traces left of viral transgene products. It remains to be seen whether there are any risks associated with the consumption of plant products in which the PTGS system is always turned on.

In essence, the know-how, the pertinent gene constructs and scientific collaborations are already in place for the successful development of second generation GE PRSV-resistant papaya in Mexico. However, neither the producers nor the government facilitators of technology transfer have shown sustained interest in the adoption of this proven technology.

MEXICAN BIOSAFETY

At the end of 1999, an Inter-Secretarial Commission on Biosafety of Genetically Modified Organisms (CIBIOGEM 1999a) was established in Mexico with the participation of six ministries (Treasure, Environment, Health, Agriculture, Education and Commerce), plus the National Council for Science and Technology. Its mandate is to coordinate the policies and federal regulation of activities related to Genetically Modified Organisms (GMOs), including production, imports, exports, mobilization, transportation, cultivation, consumption, and general use of GMOs and their products (DOF 2005). The first Law on Biosafety of Genetically Modified Organisms was approved in Mexico in 2005 (DOF 2005). It encompasses all aspects related to the use of transgenics in agriculture. A biosafety regulation, emanated from the law, was published in 2008 (DOF 2008) and amended in March 2009 to treat maize as a special case, thus lifting the politically motivated moratorium that had been imposed de facto eleven years earlier (DOF 2008). Under the Biosafety Law, promotion of national research that benefits and helps to solve national problems of agro-forestry producers is envisaged.

Twenty one years after the submission of the first application for growing transgenic tomatoes, Mexico is witness to the beginning of a new era of opportunities for the development of GE crops. Notwithstanding this new scenario, there are many obstacles to overcome as exemplified by the thorough documentation on the deregulation of GE papaya in Hawaii (Susuki *et al.* 2008). The coordinated, risk-based system implemented in the USA, was set up to ensure that new biotechnology products are safe for the environment and human health. In the case of GE papaya, it took a record eight years from the time of creation of GE PRSV-resistant R0 line 55-1 hemizygous for the *CP* transgene, to the obtaining of the license agreements that allowed the commercial cultivation of transgenic papaya and its derivatives in Hawaii only, and the first release of seed to farmers (Susuki *et al.* 2008), followed by a remarkably rapid adoption (Gonsalves *et al.* 2007).

Risk assessment and management issues

In the case of transgenic papaya in Mexico we foresee at least two technical stumbling blocks related to satisfactorily clarifying potential risks of (i) virus recombination and, (ii) transgene flow to wild or weedy relatives and to non-GE papaya ("coexistence"). Of these, the former has been addressed and reviewed for various plant-virus systems without convincing evidence of an environmentally deleterious effect (Prins et al. 2008); however, each case should be monitored in its own right. Coexistence, on the other hand, is probably a more difficult issue. Indeed, Southeastern Mexico is considered to be within the broad area believed to be the center of origin of papaya and its domesticates (Badillo 1971). Although conspecific wild and weedy Carica papaya plants have not been collected in any systematic way in Mexico, their existence in Veracruz and South to Chiapas and the Yucatan is sparsely documented with detailed botanical descriptions based on herbarium specimens in Mexico and elsewhere (Moreno 1980; Paz and Vázquez-Yanes 1998). Little, if anything, is known about gene flow between domesticated papayas and their conspecific wild relatives. However, the potential for intraspecific and intravarietal gene introgression is undeniable. Pollination strategies in *Carica* involve hawk moths (Sphingidae), (Martins 2004) powerful flyers that can transport pollen between distant plantations (Morrisen 1995). Natural hybridization with its closest wild species relatives, namely Vasconcellea spp., is hampered by strong hybrid infertility, indicating that gene transfer between C. papaya and other species in the wild is expected to be negligible (Van Droogenbroeck et al. 2004). If transgenic papaya were to coexist with non-transgenic papaya in close proximity, a significant concern would arise, especially in the case of small producers who might not want to adopt GE papaya and are growing indigenous and naturalized varieties or organic papaya (Lotter 2005; Manshardt et al. 2007).

The experience acquired with the presence of transgenic maize in Mexico (Raven 2005) and the dispersal of transgenes through maize seeds (Dyer et al. 2009) should further help design risk assessment strategies for transgenic papaya in Mexico that take farmers' practices into account (Bellon 2004). In traditional maize farming, multiple maize populations coexist and most seed is saved from the previous harvest; moreover, farmers may mix seed from various sources either to help ends meet or to expressly introduce new variation (Perales-Rivera et al. 2003). Practices like these inevitably increase gene flow at various stages of the cropping cycles. Recent hard data on the presence of transgenes in maize across Mexico, has shown quite forcefully that farmer's practices as reflected by seed systems and grain markets are key to understanding transgene dispersal and survival (Dyer et al. 2009).

The risk management process during potential or actual GE crop adoption, should also include social and cultural issues that take into consideration the agricultural know-ledge and the values of as many pertinent stakeholders as possible, especially those that may benefit most from the technology such as small-scale producers (Soleri *et al.* 2005). Moreover, recent research based on extensive interviews has indicated that resource-poor maize farmers in

Cuba, Guatemala and Mexico, contrary to established wisdom, preferred to avoid GE maize varieties for sowing and eating thus appearing to be "risk averse" (Soleri *et al.* 2008). The authors also argued that their data demonstrated that GE maize is not an optimal solution in many cases and that alternative technologies have not been evaluated properly.

The case of GE papaya is, at least in principle, rather different: small farmers aiming at selling their crops at higher prices cultivate 'Maradol' and derivatives in order to compete with larger producers. Thus, in contrast with maize, this very narrow genetic base should facilitate the introduction of PRSV resistant types developed by conventional methods or genetic engineering. Their main concern regarding GE papaya is the perception that they would need to pay a "high" price for GE papaya seed that would be bought from the private sector (Castañeda *et al.* 2007). This is not necessarily so as has been clearly shown by the Hawaiian experience: first, the technology was developed and deployed by academics (Gonsalves *et al.* 2007); second, GE seed was distributed free of charge along with an educational and promotional campaign in order to jumpstart adoption quite successfully.

Large producers, who could afford the adoption of new technologies such as PRSV resistant GE papaya and thus reap its benefits, have learned to "live with the virus" (Castañeda et al. 2007). The increased impact of PRSV with the adoption of 'Maradol' papaya has led these producers to change their crop management practices, including intensive weeding, constant crop surveillance and destruction of diseased plants, insecticide applications to keep the aphid vector populations in check, and so on. They will even buy out and destroy neighboring diseased plantations in order to lower the risk of spread of the pathogen to their crops. In their opinion, the presence of the virus represents an entry barrier for competitors as not all farmers are able to keep a careful management plan. Having virus-resistant GE seed would decrease production costs and encourage new investors into the papaya agribusiness.

Other issues, such as the safety of the product and its derivatives for human consumption, will certainly benefit from the Hawaiian experience. Since the CP transgene confers resistance to plant viruses, the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) in the USA defined it as a pesticide and therefore subjected it to the evaluation of "tolerance-levels in the plant". An exemption from tolerance was petitioned, and then granted, on the basis of the simple argument that "much of the papaya eaten in the tropics is from PRSVinfected plants" (Gonsalves et al. 2007; Susuki et al. 2008). In Mexico, PRSV infected papaya is extremely common on store shelves and acceptable to consumers; most, if not all, untainted fruit is destined to export markets. The specialized health subcommittee from CIBIOGEM would be the one taking this argument into consideration in the event of analyzing a petition for a Mexican GE PRSV-resistant papaya.

It is difficult to predict whether transgenic papaya could have the fate of GE maize in Mexico or, indeed, that of transgenic papaya in Thailand (Davidson 2008). Davidson's lively and detailed description of the turbulent process that led from an attempt at deregulating GE PRSV papaya to a countrywide moratorium on all field testing of GE crops, testifies to the vagaries and variety of political and social factors that have hindered the adoption of a promising technology in a country that had already developed a competitive biotechnology sector in the region (Davidson 2008).

Intellectual property rights (IPR)

IPR, generally designed as incentives for technological development, may represent major drawbacks to small farmers, restricting traditional farming practices such as saving and sharing seeds, and imposing new financial burdens (Fransen *et al.* 2005). Access to new seed could come to a halt due to royalty costs. Agri-biotech licensing has unique aspects that differentiate it from other technology-based

intellectual property licensing (Cahoon 2007). The transfer of GE papaya in the US and in Thailand has been widely documented (Davidson 2006; Cahoon 2007; Gonsalves *et al.* 2007; Davidson 2008), and provides an essential starting point for developing appropriate licensing agreements in the event of the transfer of GE PRSV-resistant papaya from public research institutes to Mexican resource-poor farmers. Key issues will be to establish humanitarian clauses that preclude the payment of royalties in the case of small scale farmers and to set up appropriate mechanisms to prevent illegal commercial-scale abuse.

PUBLIC PERCEPTION OF GE PAPAYA IN MEXICO

In Mexico, the public perception on GE crops is divided, especially concerning food products. The main controversy in Mexico revolves around transgenic maize and the scenario for the introduction of other edible GE crops is, at present, unpredictable at best. Papaya, one of the cheapest fruits available all year round in Mexican markets, is highly prized as raw fruit and for preparing "smoothies", and has also found various uses in traditional medicine (Ross 2005); however, it does not have the connotations of maize as a national symbol. It would be hard to imagine, in the case of GE papaya, an equivalent of the non governmental organization "Sin maíz no hay país" ("There is no country without maize"), or unwieldy claims of biodiversity disasters by anti-GE activist groups. However, as has previously been mentioned, the introduction of GE papaya will entail the inevitable flow of transgenes to cultivated, feral and wild forms of C. papaya present in Mexico, and questions will arise concerning the reproductive fitness and potential threat to biodiversity of feral and wild forms harboring a virus sequence conferring PRSV resistance.

The development of a GE PRSV-resistant papaya by Mexican scientists in public institutions, targeted to small and medium papaya producers, may be expected to draw positive public attention and feedback as a home-grown technology addressing the livelihood of the poor. As in other developing countries, there is a higher level of confidence in national scientists that develop locally adaptable technologies than in government officials or imported technologies (Aerni and Bernauer 2006; Abdulkadri et al. 2007; Soleri et al. 2008). This is in sharp contrast with the situation in richer countries, such as France and other members of the European Union, where public opinion on GE crops reflects a deep mistrust not only of those who market the technology and regulate it but also of those that develop it (Fransen et al. 2005; Bonneuil 2008). Broader acceptance of GE crops under these circumstances may increase if the technology is perceived as something that truly addresses people's needs (Bonneuil 2008). In Mexico, actors and stakeholders of promising GE technologies should endeavor, on a case by case basis, to learn from these lessons and develop innovative transfer strategies that take into account at the outset the usually harsh economic and social realities of resource poor farmers.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

As the second worldwide papaya producer and top exporter, Mexico is poised to embrace GE PRSV-resistant papaya. Several technical and regulatory reasons favor the eventual adoption of this technology. Mexican scientists in public institutions have developed GE papaya and have the capacity to improve the technology using state-of-the art methodologies that would reduce some of the real and perceived risks associated with GE crops. The use of non-translatable genetic constructs for transformation should help reduce risks to human health and potential environmental impact. The diversity of the virus in Mexico has been documented, thus facilitating the ongoing development of transformation constructs for GE papaya with broad resistance to diverse PRSV isolates. The pertinent regulatory framework for GE organisms is now formally in place; more than 50 applications per year for experimental trials of various GE crops have been submitted to CIBIOGEM over the last four years (CIBIOGEM 1999b). Of these, 51 have been authorized and 90 are being processed. But there have been no applications for GE papaya. Why? Mainly for the same reason that led to the abandonment of the four applications for GE papaya that had been filed in 1997-8: lack of interest from the large producers that initiated the process. At present, large papaya producers in Mexico are content with crop management solutions to control the impact of PRSV in their fields. To them, GE papaya would only encourage new players to enter an already competitive market. In the case of small producers, GE PRSV-resistant papaya is an attractive solution to a yearly problem that increases production costs and reduces crop yields and fruit quality. However, resource poor farmers lack the necessary political force and organization, not to mention the pertinent technical knowledge, to advocate the transfer and adoption of GE papaya. This is highly reminiscent of the rise and fall of a Mexican project on virus resistant GE potatoes at the end of the previous decade (Chauvet et al. 2004; Pray et al. 2008). The ex ante study of the potential social impacts of GE papaya has given us valuable clues concerning who should benefit most from the technology - small farmers - and why large producers are averse to its promotion. But who should push GE crops from the research centers all the way to the farmer (a major pitfall of the potato project)? Scientists, regulators and sociologists should participate by actively taking part in the design and implementation of education and promotion campaigns as well as a continuous dialogue aimed at resource poor farmers and their crop requirements on the one hand, and at consumers and the general public on the other. Existing channels designed to strengthen the agricultural supply chain, such as the "Sistema Producto", must provide technical assistance to and defend the needs of small producers.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Alba Jofre (Cinvestav-Unidad Irapuato) for her valuable comments and suggestions. This article includes unpublished results from two research projects: "Social Impact of transgenic papaya: an ex-ante assessment", CONACYT/UAM, by Michelle Chauvet, Yolanda Castañeda, Rosa Luz González, Arcelia González, Paz Trigueros and Yolanda Massieu, supported by the Sociology Department of the Metropolitan Autonomous University, Azcapotzalco, and the National Council for Science and Technology (CONACYT); and "Development of transgenic papaya resistant to PRSV", Fundación Produce Tabasco/CIN-VESTAV. Work on PRSV diversity was funded through project SEMARNAT-CONACYT-2002-C01-0304.

REFERENCES

- Abdulkadri AO, Pinnock SE, Tennant PF (2007) Public perception of genetic engineering and the choice to purchase genetically modified food in Jamaica. *Journal of Food Agriculture and Environment* 5, 8-12
- Aerni P, Bernauer T (2006) Stakeholder attitudes toward GMOs in the Philippines, Mexico, and South Africa: The issue of public trust. World Development 34, 557-575
- Badillo VM (1971) Monografia de la Familia Caricaceae (1st Edn), Universidad Central de Venezuela, Maracay, Venezuela, 221 pp
- Bateson MF, Henderson J, Chaleeprom W, Gibbs AJ, Dale JL (1994) Papaya ringspot potyvirus: isolate variability and the origin of PRSV type P (Australia). Journal of General Virology **75**, 3547-3553
- Bau H-J, Cheng Y-H, Yu T-A, Yang J-S, Yeh S-D (2003) Broad-spectrum resistance to different geographic strains of *Papaya ringspot virus* in coat protein gene transgenic papaya. *Phytopathology* 93, 112-120
- Bellon M (2004) Transgenic maize and the evolution of landrace diversity in Mexico. The importance of farmers' behavior. *Plant Physiology* 134, 883-888
- Bonneuil C (2008) The construction of GM-crop field trials as a social problem. Science, Technology and Human Values 23, 201-209
- Brush S, Chauvet M (2004) Assessment of social and cultural effects associated with transgenic maize production In: *Maize and Biodiversity: The Effects of Transgenic Maize in Mexico*, pp 1-55. Canada: Available online: http://www.cec.org/pubs_docs/documents/index.cfm?varlan=english&ID=14 30

- Bucher E, Lohuis D, van Poppel PM, Geerts-Dimitriadou C, Goldbach R, Prins M (2006) Multiple virus resistance at a high frequency using a single transgene construct. *Journal of General Virology* 87, 3697-3701
- Cabrera-Ponce JL, Vegas-Garcia A, Herrera-Estrella L (1995) Herbicide resistant transgenic papaya plants produced by an efficient particle bombardment transformation method. *Plant Cell Reports* 15, 1-7
- Cahoon R (2007) Licensing agreements in agricultural biotechnology. In: Krattiger A, Mahoney R, Nelsen L, Thomson J, Bennett A, Satyanarayana K, Graff G, Fernández C, Kowalski SP (Eds) Intellectual Property Management in Health and Agricultural Innovation: A Handbook of Best Practices, MIHR and PIPRA Oxford and Davis, pp.1009-1016
- Castañeda Y (2009) Tipología de pequeños productores de papaya en México. Inovación tecnológica a nivel local. In: XXVIII International Congress of the Latin American Studies Association. June 11-14, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil
- Castañeda Y, Chauvet M, González RL, González A, Massieu Y, Aguilar E (2007) Impactos sociales de la papaya transgénica: evaluación *ex ante.* Reporte de avances de investigación 64, Reporte de Investigación UAM-A, México, D.F., 31 pp
- Chauvet M, González R.L., Barajas RE, Castañeda Y, Massieu Y (2004) Impactos sociales de la biotecnología: el cultivo de la papa, UAM-A/Praxis/ CamBiotec/CONACYT, Mexico City, 292 pp
- Chiang C-H, Wang J-J, Jan F-J, Yeh S-D, Gonsalves D (2001) Comparative reactions of recombinant papaya ringspot viruses with chimeric coat protein (CP) genes and wild-type viruses on CP-transgenic papaya. *Journal of General Virology* 82, 2827-2836
- **CIBIOGEM** (1999a) Bienvenido al Portal del Sistema Nacional de Bioseguridad de OGMs de CIBIOGEM. CONACYT. Available online: http://www.cibiogem.gob.mx/index.html
- **CIBIOGEM** (1999b) Registro Nacional de Organismos Genéticamente Modificados. CONACYT. Available online:
- http://www.cibiogem.gob.mx/OGMs/Solicitudes_Reg_OGMs.html
- **COFUPRO** (2009) La Coordinadora Nacional de las Fundaciones Produce, A.C. Available online: http://www.cofupro.org.mx/conocenos.php
- Darbani B, Eimanifar A, Stewart CN, Camargo WN (2007) Methods to produce marker-free transgenic plants. *Biotechnology Journal* 2, 83-90
- Davidson SN (2006) Case Study: The Genetically Modified (GM) PRSV Resistant Papaya in Thailand: A Case Study for the Agricultural Biotechnology Policy Development in the GMS Sub-Region. 30 pp. Available online: http://www.sarahnelldavidson.com/articles/PapayaCaseStudy.pdf
- Davidson SN (2008) Forbidden fruit: Transgenic papaya in Thailand. Plant Physiology 147, 487-493
- de la Fuente JM, Ramírez-Rodríguez V, Cabrera-Ponce JL, Herrera-Estrella L (1997) Aluminum tolerance in transgenic plants by alteration of citrate synthesis. *Science* 276, 1566-1568
- DOF (2005) Ley de bioseguridad de organismos genéticamente modificados. Diario Oficial de la Federación 18 Mar.- No. 14.- 54. Available online: http://www.cddhcu.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/pdf/Ley_BOGM.pdf
- **DOF** (2008) Reglamento de la Ley de Bioseguridad de Organismos Genéticamente Modificados. Diario Oficial de la Federación 19 Mar.- No. 15.- 26. Available online:

http://www.cibiogem.gob.mx/Norm_Leyes/Reglamento_LBOGM.pdf

- Dyer G, Serratos-Hernández J, Perales H, Gepts P, Piñeyro-Nelson A, Chávez A, Salinas-Arreortua N, Yúnez-Naude A, Taylor J, Alvarez-Buylla E (2009) Dispersal of transgenes through maize seed systems in Mexico. *PLoS ONE* 4, e5734
- Elliot J, Heesterbeek S, Lukensmeyer CJ, Slocum N (Eds) (2005) Participatory Methods Toolkit. A practitioner's manual. King Baudouin Foundation and the Flemish Institute for Science and Technology Assessment, 210 pp
- **FAO** (2009a) FAOSTAT (crop consumption). Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Available online:

http://faostat.fao.org/site/609/default.aspx#ancor

- FAO (2009b) FAOSTAT (crop production). Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Accessed in June 2009. Available online: http://faostat.fao.org/site/567/default.aspx#ancor
- **FAO** (2009c) FAOSTAT (crop trade). Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Available online:

http://faostat.fao.org/site/535/default.aspx#ancor

- Fransen L, la Vina A, Dayrit F, Gatlayaban L, Santosa D, Adiwibowo S (2005) Integrating Socio-economic Considerations into Biosafety Decisions: The role of public participation, World Resources Institute. World Resources Institute, pp 1-53
- Gonsalves C, Cai W, Tennant P, Gonsalves D (1998) Effective development of *Papaya ringspot virus* resistant papaya with untranslatable coat protein gene using a modified microprojectile transformation method. *Acta Hoticulturae (ISHS)* 461, 311-314
- Gonsalves C, Lee DR, Gonsalves D (2007) The adoption of genetically modified papaya in Hawaii and its implications for developing countries. *Journal* of Development Studies **43**, 177-191
- Gonsalves D (1998) Control of papaya ringspot virus in papaya: A case study. Annual Review of Phytopathology 36, 415-437
- Guzmán-González S, Valadez-Ramírez P, Robles-Berber RE, Silva-Rosales L, Cabrera-Ponce JL (2006) Biolistic genetic transformation of *Carica papaya* L. using the Helios (TM) Gene Gun. *Hortscience* 41, 1053-1053

- Hanin M, Paszkowski J (2003) Plant genome modification by homologous recombination. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 6, 157-162
- Lindbo J, Silva-Rosales L, Proebsting W, Dougherty W (1993) Induction of a highly specific antiviral state in transgenic plants: Implications for regulation of gene expression and virus resistance. *Plant Cell* **5**, 1749-1759
- Lotter D (2005) Sizing up organic farming in Mexico. The New Farm. Available online:

http://newfarm.rodaleinstitute.org/international/pan-

am_don/feb05/mx_organic/index_print.shtml

- Manshardt RM, Mello CL, Lum SD, Ta L (2007) Tracking papaya pollen movement with the GUS transgene marker. Acta Hoticulturae (ISHS) 740, 183-187
- Martins DJ (2004) Pollination Ecology of Papaya (*Carica papaya*) on smallholder farms in Kenya. Case Studies on Conservation of Pollination Services as a Component of Agricultural Biological Diversity - African Pollinator Initiative. Available online:

http://www.fao.org/ag/AGP/agps/C-CAB/Castudies/pdf/6-011.pdf

- Massieu Y (2009) Exportaciones no tradicionales y papaya trasngénica. La diversidad genética en la globalización. In: XXVIII International Congress of the Latin American Studies Association, June 11-14, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, p 26
- Moreno NP (1980) *Caricaceae 10*, Flora de Veracruz Instituto de Ecología A C 18 pp
- **Morrisen A** (1995) The pollination biology of papaw (*Carica papaya* L.) in Central Queensland. PhD thesis, Central Queensland University, 340 pp
- Niu QW, Lin SS, Reyes JL, Chen KC, Wu HW, Yeh SD, Chua NH (2006) Expression of artificial microRNAs in transgenic *Arabidopsis thaliana* confers virus resistance. *Nature Biotechnology* 24, 1420-1428
- Nivia E, Perfecto I (2009) Agriculture in Latin America and the Caribbean: context, evolution and current situation. In: McIntyre BD (Eds) International Assessment of Agricultural Knowledge, Science and Technology for Development (IAASTD): Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) report, Island Press, Washington, D.C., pp 1-74
- Noa-Carrazana JC, González-de-León D, Ruiz-Castro BS, Piñero D, Silva-Rosales L (2006) Distribution of Papaya ringspot virus and Papaya mosaic virus in papaya plants (*Carica papaya*) in Mexico. *Plant Disease* 90, 1004-1011
- Ochoa de F M, Galindo AJ (1977) La virosis del papayo en México. Panagfa (México) 5, 6-7
- Paz L, Vázquez-Yanes C (1998) Comparative seed ecophysiology of wild and cultivated Carica papaya trees from a tropical rain forest region in Mexico. *Tree Physiology* 18, 277-280
- Perales-Rivera H, Brush S, Qualset C (2003) Dynamic management of maize landraces in central Mexico. *Economic Botany* 57, 21-34
- Poghosyan A, Holguín G, Bacilio M (2007) Papaya diseases: ecology and control. In: Pimentel D (Eds) *Encyclopedia of Pest Management*, CRC Press, pp 443-439
- Pray C, Paarlberg R, Unnevehr L (2008) Patterns of political response to biofortified varieties of crops produced with different breeding techniques and agronomic traits. AgBioForum 10, 135-143
- Prins M, Laimer M, Noris E, Schubert J, Wassenegger M, Tepfer M (2008) Strategies for antiviral resistance in transgenic plants. *Molecular Plant Pathology* 9, 73-83

Qu J, Ye J, Fang R (2007) Artificial microRNA-mediated virus resistance in plants. *Journal of Virology* 81, 6690-6699

- Raven PH (2005) Transgenes in Mexican maize: desirability or inevitability? Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA **102**, 13003-13004
- **Ross IA** (2005) Medicinal Plants of the World, Volume 1: Chemical Constituents, Traditional and Modern Uses (2nd En), Humana Press, Totowa, New

Jersey, 512 pp

- SAGARPA (2005) Plan Rector Sistema Nacional Papaya Segunda Fase. 46 pp. Available online:
 - http://www.amsda.com.mx/PRNacionales/Nacionales/PRNpapaya2.pdf
- Sarukán J (1999) Organismos vivos modificados en la agricultura mexicana: desarrollo biotecnológico y conservación de la diversidad biológica. *Revista de la Sociedad Mexicana de Biotecnología y Bioingeniería* **4**, 47-60
- SENASICA (2003) Ensayos de productos genéticamente modificados llevados a cabo en México de 1988 al 01 de junio de 2003. Available online: previously available to the public; now only on request from: http://www.senasica.gob.mx/

SIAP (2009a) Anuario estadístico de la producción agrícola. Servicio de Información Agroalimentaria y Pesquera. Available online:

- http://www.siap.gob.mx/aagricola_siap/icultivo/index.jsp?cveCultivo=60&in vitado=true
- SIAP (2009b) Papaya. Servicio de Información Agroalimentaria y Pesquera (SIAP). Available online:
- http://www.campomexicano.gob.mx/portal_sispro/index.php?portal=papaya Silva-Rosales L, Becerra-Leor N, Ruiz-Castro S, Téliz-Ortiz D, Noa-Car-
- **razana JC** (2000) Coat protein sequence comparisons of three Mexican isolates of *Papaya ringspot virus* with other geographical isolates reveal a close relationship to American and Australian isolates. *Archives of Virology* **145**, 835-843
- Soleri D, Cleveland D, Aragón F, Fuentes M, Ríos H, Sweeney S (2005) Understanding the potential impact of transgenic crops in traditional agriculture: maize farmers' perspectives in Cuba, Guatemala and Mexico. *Environmental Biosafety Research* 4, 141-166
- Soleri D, Cleveland D, Glasgow G, Sweeney S, Cuevas F, Fuentes M, Ríos H (2008) Testing assumptions underlying economic research on transgenic food crops for Third World farmers: Evidence from Cuba, Guatemala and Mexico. *Ecological Economics* 67, 667-682

Stokstad E (2008) Papaya takes on ringspot virus and wins. Science 320, 472

- Susuki JY, Tripathi S, Gonsalves D (2008) Virus-resistant transgenic papaya: commercial development and regulatory and environmental issues. In: Punja ZK, De Boer S, Sanfaçon HI (Eds) *Biotechnology and Plant Disease Management*, CABI, pp 436-461
- Téliz D, Mora G, Nieto D, Gonsalves D, Garcia E, Matheis L, Avila C (1991) La mancha anular del papayo en México. *Revista Mexicana de Fitopatología* 9, 64-68
- Tennant P, Fermin G, Fitch MM, Manshardt RM, Slightom JL, Gonsalves D (2001) Papaya ringspot virus resistance of transgenic Rainbow and SunUp is affected by gene dosage, plant development, and coat protein homology. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* **107**, 645-653
- Tennant PF, Gonsalves C, Ling K-S, Fitch M, Manshardt R, Slightom JL, Gonsalves D (1994) Differential protection against papaya ringspot virus isolates in coat protein gene transgenic papaya and classically cross-protected papaya. *Phytopathology* 84, 1359-1366
- Tovar LG, Martin L, Cruz MAG, Mutersbaugh T (2005) Certified organic agriculture in Mexico: Market connections and certification practices in large and small producers. *Journal of Rural Studies* 21, 461-474
- Van Droogenbroeck B, Kyndt T, Maertens I, Romeijn-Peeters E, Scheldeman X, Romero-Motochi JP, Van Damme P, Goetghebeur P, Gheysen G (2004) Phylogenetic analysis of the highland papayas (Vasconcellea) and allied genera (Caricaceae) using PCR-RFLP. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 108, 1473-1486
- Yan P, Wang S, Shen W, Gao X, Wu J, Zhou P (2010) Simple construction of chimeric hairpin RNA for virus resistance in plants. *Journal of Virological Methods* 166, 101-105